1952

Vaughn L. Warr v. The Van Kleeck-Bacon Investment Company et al : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal by the Van Kleeck Companies, Defendants and Appellants, and by Jay Larsen, Appellant and Intervener, from orders entered in the Fourth Judicial District Court, Uintah County, the Honorable R. L. Tuckett, Judge, presiding, refusing to set aside a default and default judgment entered in favor of the plaintiffs against the defendants and refusing to allow Jay Larsen to intervene in the action.

The action, a suit to have a deed absolute declared a mortgage and removed as a cloud on plaintiffs' title, was instituted by the service of a summons on Don Barr,

defendants' process agent in Utah, on July 31, 1951 (R. 4). 21 days after service of summons, on August 21, 1951, defendants' default was entered by plaintiffs (R. 38). Ten days thereafter or 31 days after service of Summons, on August 31, 1951, a default judgment was entered against defendants (R. 5-6).

Upon learning that a default judgment had been taken against them, defendants took prompt and immediate measures to have the default and default judgment set aside (R. 9-17). After strenuous and diligent efforts in ascertaining the facts, retaining Utah counsel and preparing the necessary papers, defendants by motion dated November 19, 1951, and filed on November 20, 1951, moved the Court to set aside the entry of default and to vacate the default judgment and to permit the defendants to file their answer in the action (R. 9). The motion was made on the ground that the default and default judgment had been taken by reason of defendants' mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect, and was based upon the affidavit of merits of defendants, the Notice of Motion, Affidavits of Ross Bray, Charles A. Baer and Don Barr attached to the motion, the Answer of defendants served therewith and all other records in the action (R. 7-9). The motion thus filed on November 20, 1951 was one day less than three months from the date of entry of defendants' default in the action. In defendants' answer attached to the motion, the Court's attention was directed to the fact that, except for the mineral rights, the land and water stock involved in the action had in 1942 been conveyed by Warranty Deed to Jay Larsen (R. 19) by virtue

of a contract to purchase the property dated March 3, 1938 (R. 20-21), and asserted as a defense to the action that Jay Larsen as such fee owner and in possession had not been joined by plaintiffs as a necessary and indispensable party defendant to the action (R. 22).

The above motion of defendants was heard by the Court on December 14, 1951 and taken under advisement (R. 54). By a ruling dated at Provo, Utah, April 26, 1952, and filed May 13, 1952, the Court denied defendants' motion to set aside the judgment and found that defendants had failed to show that their failure to answer was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect (R. 31).

Thereafter, three additional motions were filed in the action. On May 23, 1952, defendants filed a supplemental motion to set aside the entry of default and to vacate the default judgment and to dismiss the action, or in lieu thereof to permit the defendants to file their answer in the action, upon the grounds that Jay Larsen, defendants' grantee of the surface rights and water stock, and Carter Oil Company, defendants' lessee of the oil, gas and mineral rights, were necessary and indispensable parties defendant to the action and that such deed and lease were of record and in the abstract and personally known to plaintiffs prior to the commencement of the action (R. 32-37).

On May 23, 1952, Jay Larsen filed a motion to have the Court set aside the default judgment entered against defendants and for leave to intervene in the action as a party defendant and for leave to file his answer in the action upon the grounds that, except for the mineral

rights, he was the fee owner of the land and water stock involved in the action, holding under Warranty Deed from the defendants which deed had been recorded on October 29, 1942, in Book No. 33, Page No. 300, Uintah County records; that he had not learned of the action nor of the default judgment until May, 1952; that the Court's decree vesting title of the land and water stock in plaintiffs in effect constituted the assertion by plaintiffs of an adverse interest against him as the lawful owner in possession of the property, except the mineral rights, and that the default judgment was void in its entirety in that he, an indispensable party to the action, had never been given any opportunity or notice to appear and be joined in the action (R. 39-41).

By motion dated May 24, 1952 and filed on May 26, 1952 defendants moved the Court to reconsider its ruling dated April 26, 1952, and filed on May 13, 1952, denying defendants' motion to set aside the default and default judgment, on the basis of the facts contained in the additional affidavits of H. M. Snyder, Sheriff of Uintah County, Don Barr, Cashier of the Bank of Vernal, and N. J. Meagher, President of the Bank of Vernal, attached to the motion (R. 44-48).

The three motions described above were heard by the Court on June 11, 1952 at Provo, Utah, and the matter taken under advisement (R. 56). By ruling dated July 12, 1952, and filed on July 16, 1952, the Court denied defendants' motion to have the Court reconsider its prior ruling and, in view of the plaintiffs' offer in open court to tender Jay Larsen a quit claim deed to the surface

rights of the land involved, also denied the motion of Jay Larsen to set aside the default judgment and to intervene in the suit (R. 55). The above offer of a quit claim deed by plaintiffs was rejected by counsel in open Court on behalf of Jay Larsen. Jay Larsen continues in his refusal to accept such deed and insists upon his right to intervene in the action and have the default judgment set aside so that the Court upon a trial of the merits can sever the mineral rights from the surface rights and water stock and either upon proof or by plaintiffs' disclaimer, confirm and recognize his ownership and right to possession of such surface rights and water stock under and by virtue of his Warranty Deed from defendants.

Defendants filed their Notice of Appeal on June 12, 1952, from the Court's order entered on May 13, 1952, denying defendants' motion of November 20, 1951.

On August 12, 1952, the defendants and Jay Larsen together filed a Notice of Appeal from the Court's order entered on July 16, 1952, denying defendants' supplemental motions and the motion of Jay Larsen to set aside the judgment and to intervene in the action.

By stipulation between the parties and Jay Larsen, approved by order signed by Mr. Justice McDonough of this Court, both Notices of Appeal are in effect consolidated together as one case on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Colorado National Bank, Denver, Colorado, is testamentary trustee of the Van Kleeck Estate and in this capacity represents the controlling interest of the de-

fendant Van Kleeck Companies (R. 16). Charles A. Baer, Assistant Trust Officer of the Bank, is an officer of both companies (R. 14). Both companies were organized under the laws of Colorado (R. 14). Ross Bray, an associate for many years of the late Mr. Van Kleeck, is likewise an officer of both companies (R. 10).

Over 30 years ago, namely, by Warranty Deed acknowledged May 14, 1921, and recorded on May 24, 1921, in Book No. 23, Page Nos. 102-3, Uintah County records, the defendant Van Kleeck-Bacon Investment Company acquired title from the father and mother of plaintiffs to the following described land and water stock located in Uintah County:

Lots One and Two, and the East half of the Northwest quarter of Section 19, Township 1 South of Range One East of the Uintah Special Meridian, containing 160.84 acres, more or less;
160 shares of the capital stock of the Big Six Irrigation Company. (R. 19).

A photostatic copy of this deed appears in the record (R. 24-5). The deed on its face states: "This deed is not intended as a mortgage" (R. 24). This Warranty Deed was given in lieu of foreclosure proceedings and in extinguishment of a debt in the face amount of \$3,500.00, represented by a note dated April 22, 1920, in the amount of \$2,500.00 and a note dated April 23, 1920 in the amount of \$1,000.00 signed by Joseph F. Warr and Elizabeth Warr, father and mother of plaintiffs, payable and effected in Denver, Colorado, in favor of the defendant,

Van Kleeck Mortgage Company (R. 30). No part of either principal or interest on such indebtedness was ever paid by the Warrs to either of the defendant companies (R. 30). The notes were secured by two mortgages on the above land and water stock, aggregating \$3,500.00, and the conveyance from plaintiff's father and mother to the defendant, Van Kleeck-Bacon Investment Company, was made subject to such mortgages (R. 24). The mortgages and debt were released of record several years later in 1938 at the time Jay Larsen contracted to purchase the surface rights and water stock from the defendant companies.

At the time the aforesaid Warranty Deed was executed and delivered to the defendant, Van Kleeck-Bacon Investment Company, by plaintiffs' father and mother, the parties entered into an option and agreement under which the defendant company agreed to reconvey the property upon the payment before November 1, 1921 of all arrears, taxes, water assessments and expenses (R. 30). The Warrs did not exercise their option, paid no money under the contract, and finally vacated and moved off the property on December 20, 1922 (R. 21 and R. 30). No member of the Warr family was ever heard from again until November 7, 1951, when the defendant companies were shocked to hear of the suit and thereafter learn that a default judgment had been entered in this case in favor of the Warr children (R. 30).

After the Warr family vacated and moved off the premises on December 20, 1922, the defendant company took possession, leasing the land to various tenants and

paying all water assessments and taxes continuously on the land from year to year thereafter until 1938 (R. 18-23).

On March 3, 1938 Jay Larsen contracted to purchase the land and water stock, excepting the mineral rights, for the sum of \$1,000.00, payable in installments (R. 33, R. 30). Larsen entered into possession at the time of such contract and has paid all taxes and water assessments on the property since that time (R. 33-34). Upon final payment of the agreed purchase price and on February 4, 1942, the defendant by Warranty Deed recorded on October 29, 1942, in Book No. 33, Page No. 300, Uintah County Records, conveyed the land and water stock, excepting the mineral rights, to Jay Larsen in fee (R. 39-40). Jay Larsen has used the land as irrigated pasture in his cattle and farming operations (R. 33-4).

On March 15, 1951, the defendant companies signed and executed an oil and gas lease with Carter Oil Company covering the land in question which lease was thereafter recorded and of record prior to the commencement of the present action on July 31, 1951 (R. 35). The lease contains a Warranty of Title by the defendant companies to the Carter Oil Company (R. 36). Carter Oil Company assigned the lease to Stanolind Oil & Gas Company which Company in turn assigned the lease to Phillips Petroleum Company (R. 35). The aforesaid assignments were of record prior to the commencement of the present action on July 31, 1951 (R. 35). On June 23, 1951, plaintiffs executed a document with Carter Oil Company ratifying defendants' oil and gas lease with the same force and

effect as if plaintiffs had been named as Lessors therein (R. 35). No notice of such ratification or assertion of adverse interest in the property by plaintiffs was given to defendant companies, either by plaintiffs or by Carter Oil Company or by anyone else (R. 35). It is admitted that Carter Oil Company paid a bonus of \$75,000.00 to the defendant companies for executing the aforesaid oil and gas lease.

Immediately prior to the execution of the Carter oil and gas lease on March 15, 1951, it became necessary because of deaths of former agents to appoint a new process agent for defendant companies in Utah (R. 30).

At the suggestion of the Colorado National Bank, the defendant companies selected and appointed as their process agent in the State of Utah, Don Barr, Cashier of the Bank of Vernal. The Bank of Vernal was the correspondent bank in Vernal, Utah, of the Colorado National Bank (R. 30—Baer deposition). He was carefully selected after discussions with various officers of the Colorado bank because he was situated in Vernal, was cashier of the bank and was a young man (R. 30). Don Barr, early in March, 1951, accepted the appointment as process agent in Utah for the defendant companies (R. 26-29, R. 53, R. 46). He was given no specific instructions concerning his duties as process agent, nor was there any need to give any such instructions, for he clearly understood that his only duty was to forward to the offices of the defendant companies in Denver, Colorado, any papers served on him pertaining to the Van Kleeck Companies (R. 46, 26-29).

On July 31, 1951, sometime during the working day, H. M. Snyder, Sheriff of Uintah County, walked into the Bank of Vernal for the purpose of serving the summons and complaint in this action on Don Barr, the defendants' process agent in Utah (R. 45). At the time Barr was working behind the second teller's window on the left as you go in the main entrance of the bank (R. 45). The Sheriff walked up to the window and speaking through the cage said he had some papers for him (R. 45). Barr asked what they were and the Sheriff gave the papers to him indorsing the service on them at the time (R. 45). According to the Sheriff's clear recollection, Don Barr handed the papers back and said "These papers are not for me"; "There must be some mistake, these papers are for Vaughn Warr, not Don Barr." (R. 45). The Sheriff pushed the papers back and said he was going to leave them nevertheless (R.45).

Sheriff Snyder, in his affidavit (R. 45) stated:

"I have a clear recollection of the incident and there is no doubt in my mind whatsoever that Don Barr made an honest mistake in misapprehending the import of the papers being served upon him because of the close similarity between the name Vaughn Warr and his own name, Don Barr." (R. 45).

Mr. N. J. Meagher, President of the Bank of Vernal, was in the Bank on the day the Sheriff came in. After the Sheriff left he walked over and said to Mr. Barr: "Don, what were those papers the Sheriff brought in?" Mr.

Barr replied: "There was some mistake. The papers did not pertain to me or the Bank. They were for a man by the name of Warr." (R. 47). Mr. Meagher likewise affirmed that Mr. Barr as Cashier had always discharged his duties in a highly conscientious, careful, prudent and competent manner (R. 47).

Don Barr himself affirms that but for his mistake in apprehending that the papers in the action were intended for Vaughn Warr rather than himself, by reason solely of the similarity in the two names, and if he had noticed or had his attention called to the Van Kleeck names, it would have immediately recalled to mind his appointment, approximately four and one-half months earlier, as process agent for the Van Kleeck companies and he would have immediately forwarded such papers to the Companies in Denver, Colorado (R. 46). At the time of service he did not remember or have his appointment specifically in mind (R. 53) but the fact of such appointment would have been immediately recalled to mind if he had seen or had his attention called to the Van Kleeck name and if he had not made the honest mistake of thinking that the papers were meant for Vaughn Warr instead of Don Barr (R. 46). Whatever happened to the papers nobody knows; they did not turn up at the bank or elsewhere (R. 26-29).

21 days after the service as aforesaid, plaintiffs entered defendants' default (R. 38). Ten days later, upon the sole testimony of plaintiffs' counsel, the Court found that the Warranty Deed from plaintiffs' father and mother under which both defendants, as grantee, and

Jay Larsen, as defendants' grantee, claim their respective interests, was not a deed but an unforcedclosed mortgage, outlawed by the Statutes of Limitation of Utah (R. 5-6). By the judgment, the Court decreed:

"1. That the plaintiffs are the owners and entitled to the possession of the following described realty and water stock in Uintah County, State of Utah, to-wit:

Lots One and Two and the East half of the Northwest quarter of Section 19, Township 1 South, of Range 1 East, of the Uintah Special Meridian; and all petroleum and mineral rights therein; and
160 shares of the capital stock of the Big Six Irrigation Company." (R. 5).

By paragraph 5 of the judgment, plaintiffs were awarded their costs of Court (R. 6). The Court likewise found that the mortgage and conveyance were void because the defendants were non-qualified Colorado corporations doing business in Utah (R. 5-6). This was not the fact (R. 18-23).

Plaintiffs in their complaint, although alleging that the deed was a mortgage whose foreclosure was outlawed by the statute of limitations, made no offer to pay any sum against the unpaid mortgage debt or interest. They made no offer to pay any of the taxes or water assessments which have been paid on the property for 30 years. They made no offer to pay for any improvements on the property (R. 2-3). In their complaint, plaintiffs did not ask the Court to decree that they were the owners and

entitled to the possession of the mineral rights only; they alleged in paragraph 4 of their complaint that they were the owners and entitled to the possession of the entire interest in the 160.84 acres, as described, and 160 shares of the capital stock of the Big Six Irrigation Company (R. 2). In their prayer, they asked:

“1. That the plaintiffs be declared to be the owners of the above described realty and water stock;” (R. 3).

The default judgment conformed with this prayer for relief and vested complete and entire ownership in the realty and water stock in plaintiffs (R. 5). The cause of action was single and indivisible; the judgment was single and indivisible (R. 3-5).

Both at the time of the commencement of the action on July 31, 1951, and on August 31, 1951, when the hearing was held and the default judgment entered by the Court, plaintiffs knew both personally and from the abstract of title introduced in evidence, that Jay Larsen was the record owner and in possession of the land, excepting the mineral rights, and the water stock as well. They also knew of defendants' lease to Carter Oil Company of the mineral rights, and of the assignments of such lease (R. 32-7, R. 39-41). Although Jay Larsen, Big Six Irrigation Company, Carter Oil Company, and its assignees, were and are all available for service of process in this action, no effort was made to join them in the action notwithstanding their known interests in the property (R. 32-7). At no time from December 20, 1922, when the

Warr family actually vacated and moved off the premises, until November 7, 1951, when John Cook of the Carter Oil Company happened to advise Ross Bray in Denver of the suit (R. 11) did the plaintiffs or any member of the Warr family ever at any time assert any adverse interest or claim any interest whatsoever in the property against the defendant companies or against Jay Larsen, the defendants' grantee of the surface rights and water stock (R. 30, 33, 40).

The defendant companies, upon first being apprised of the suit on November 7, 1951, took immediate and vigorous steps to have the default and default judgment set aside (R. 10-17). Jay Larsen, on hearing of the suit for the first time in May, 1952, likewise took immediate steps to intervene in the action and protect his interest in the property under and by virtue of his Warranty Deed from defendants (R. 39-41).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Two primary questions are presented to this Court for determination. The first is whether the District Court erred in refusing to grant the timely motion of defendants to set aside the default and default judgment by ruling that the honest mistake of Don Barr was inexcusable. The second question is whether the default judgment should have been set aside by the District Court because necessary and indispensable parties to the action were not joined and were not permitted to join in the action. Although we respectfully suggest that the District Court's rulings should clearly be reversed on both

grounds we take up first for discussion the well-established principle that the non-joinder of necessary and indispensable parties requires a reversal of the District Court's rulings in the circumstances of this case.

POINT I

A DEFAULT JUDGMENT MUST BE SET ASIDE WHEN, BY TIMELY MOTION, THE FACT THAT A NECESSARY AND INDISPENSABLE PARTY HAS NOT BEEN JOINED IN THE ACTION IS BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE COURT.

NATURE OF THE CASE

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