1952

Vaughn L. Warr v. The Van Kleeck-Bacon Investment Company et al : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

Again the California Courts, in the case of *Weinberger v. Manning*, 123 P. (2d) 531, held that the burden of proof of establishing that neglect was excusable was on the defendant. In refusing to set aside a default judgment, the court stated:

"The first question for determination under the cited section is whether or not there was a mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect on the part of defendant. If there was not then she is not entitled to relief, notwithstanding any showing of merits 'in support of her motion.' *Bond v. Karma-Ajax Consol. Min Co.*, 15 Cal. App. 469, 472, 115 P. 254. The burden of proof in such a matter is upon the defendant and she was required to establish her claim of excusable neglect by a preponderance of the evidence. *Bruskey v. Bruskey*, 4 Cal. App. (2d) 472, 41 P. (2d) 203. While courts are generous in reliev-

ing litigants of their defaults resulting from inadvertence or excusable neglect yet they are not required to act as guardians for persons who are grossly careless as to their own affairs. *Gillingham v. Lawrence*, 11 Cal. App. 231, 233; 105 P. 584. All persons in possession of their normal facilities, capable of engaging in business transactions must conform with, and be guided by, the rules and regulations of legal procedure. *Ibid.* While the decision upon a motion to open a default is primarily within the discretion of the trial court, at the same time such discretion may not be exercised arbitrarily; it must be an 'impartial discretion guided and controlled in its exercise by fixed legal principles.' *Brill v. Fox*, 211 Cal. 739, 297 P. 25, 26."

The following enlightening language is found in the case of *Bickerstaff v. Harmonica Fire Ins. Co.*, 133 S.W. 2d 890 @ 892:

"In the case last cited the court said: 'The statute to vacate judgments by this proceeding is in derogation, not only of the common law, but of the very important policy of holding judgments final after the close of the term. Citizens must have some confidence in the judgments of our official tribunals, as settlements of their controversies, and there should be some end of them. Unless a case be clearly within the spirit and policy of the act, the judgment should not be disturbed'."

In the case of *Bond v. W. T. Congleton Co.*, 129 S.W. 2d 570 @ 573, the court stated:

"However, this liberal attitude has never been extended to the point of declaring that a party is entitled to have a default judgment set aside as a matter

of right. It is only when he shows a reasonable excuse and establishes that he has not been guilty of unreasonable delay or neglect that the discretion of the trial court should be exercised in setting aside a default judgment and permitting defense to be made."

In the case of *Lynch v. Arizona Enterprise Mining Co.*, 179 Pac. 956 @ 957, the service was made on a non-resident agent who failed to notify his principal. Default was taken and the lower court set the default aside. The supreme court of Arizona reversed the lower court and reinstated the default judgment using the following language:

"Can the negligence of the statutory agent in not notifying the defendant of the pendency of the suit because 'he did not know the address of the company' be considered 'excusable neglect'? We think not. It must be conceded that it was the duty of the agent to promptly forward the summons to the proper officers of the company. There is no showing that he made any effort to ascertain the address of any of the defendant's officers. Nothing of that nature is disclosed. It appears that the principal works of the company are situated at or near Boise, in the adjoining county, to the one in which the agent resides. Furthermore, the statute requires that the articles of incorporation organized under the laws of this state shall contain 'the names, residences, post office addresses of the corporators, the name of the corporation, and its principal place of business.' Civ. Code 1913, par. 2100. These articles are required to be filed in the office of the Arizona Corporation Commission. It is too plain to be questioned that, if the agent had made any reasonable effort to discover the address of any officer of the company, he would have succeeded, and it must be held that he was culpably negligent in not

doing so, and that his negligence was the defendant's negligence."

In the recent case of *Postal Benefit Ins. Co. v. Johnson*, 165 Pac. (2d) 173, the Arizona courts went even further. In that case, summons was served on the corporation commission of Arizona, which by statute was made the process agent for the non-resident corporation in question. The corporation commission failed to notify the defendant of the pendency of the suit and a default judgment was taken. The lower court refused to set the default aside and the Supreme Court sustained the decision of the lower court. The language of the Arizona Supreme Court is as follows:

"We are committed to the rule that where service had been made on a duly appointed statutory agent, and the agent failed to notify his principal, through mere carelessness, that such a showing does not constitute 'excusable neglect but was indeed inexcusable neglect.' *Lynch v. Arizona Enterprise Min. Co.*, 20 Ariz. 250, 179 P. 956. We believe the majority of the cases support this view. 31 Am. Jur. 287, Sec. 747, Judgments. If the statutory agent here was one by appointment, rather than by law, we would be impelled to follow the *Lynch* case. We see no reason to adopt a different rule where the agent has been made so by law rather than by appointment. Under the law, the defendant actually appointed each member of the commission as its agent. Unless, therefore, the showing made disclosed that the agents were excusable in failing to advise defendant of the summons, the court properly denied the application to set aside the judgment. The record is barren of any legal excuse on the part of the commission. It appears that the summons was placed in the files of the commission,

and nothing further done about it. This is no justifiable excuse or neglect. *Lynch v. Arizona Enterprise Co.*, supra; *Gutierrez v. Romero*, 24 Ariz. 382, 210 P. 470; *Garden Dev. Co. v. Carlow*, 33 Ariz. 232, 263, P. 623, 625; *Missouri, Kansas & Texas R. Co. v. Ellis*, 53 Okl. 264, 156 P. 226, L.R.A. 1916E, 100; *Gordon v. Harbolt*, Cal. App. 280 P. 701; *Larson v. Zabroski*, 21 Wash. (2d) 572, 152, P. 2d 154 rehearing 155 P. 2d 184.”

In the case of *Penn Central Light & Power Co. v. Central Eastern Power Co.*, 171 A. 332 @ 335, the defendant failed to answer and cited the failure of its process agent to bring the service of summons to its attention as a basis to set aside the default judgment taken. The court refused to set aside the default judgment and quoted in support of its refusal *Freeman on Judgments*. The language of the Pennsylvania Court is as follows:

“The defendant is a citizen of the State of Delaware. The statute requires it to have a resident agent upon whom process may be served. It appointed such agent. Service upon the resident agent is as complete and valid as if the service had been made upon the President or other head officer.

“To hold otherwise would be to destroy the effect and meaning of section 48 of the Corporation Law (as amended by 34 Del. Laws, c. 112, Sec. 12).

“It would be the same, if the defendant were a foreign corporation and service of process had been made upon its statutory agent. 1 *Freeman on Judgments*, Sec. 346.”

In *Freeman on Judgments*, Vol. 3, Sec. 1204, in treating of equitable relief, it is said:

"Consequently even an inequitable judgment will not be set aside nor will its enforcement be enjoined where it was the result of the complaining party's fault or inexcusable neglect. To entitle a party to relief, he must not only show the fraud, mistake or other ground for equitable interference, but it must appear that he was not negligent in failing to discover the real facts in time to prevent the judgment. This principle of diligence is as applicable to a party's agent and representative in the action as to the party himself. Thus, a judgment against an infant will not be set aside merely because of the neglect of his guardian ad litem where there was no fraudulent or collusive act by the plaintiff. The same is true with respect to the neglect of a trustee of a school district. And the failure of a corporate agent upon whom service was legally made to inform the executive officers of the defendant of the fact, because of his unwarranted assumption that the service was ineffective, is negligence which defeats relief."

The same rule prevails in the Federal Court. In *Traveler's Protective Assn. v. Gilbert* (C.C.A.) 11 F. 269, 275, 55 L.R.A. 538, summons was served on the secretary of the corporation. The secretary of the corporation informed the marshal that he, the secretary, was not the proper person to be served, but that the marshal should serve the President of the association. The secretary assumed that he, the marshal, would follow his directions. The marshal did no such thing, but filed the return on the basis of the service on the secretary. Default was taken. The appellate court refused to disturb the finding of the lower court that the default judgment should not be vacated. The following is the language of the appellate court:

"We are also of the opinion that the misapprehension claimed to exist on the part of Secretary Bass was not such as justified him in not informing the proper executive officers of the pendency of the suit. Even if he did think the Marshal would take his advice, and serve some other person, he, with the copy of the summons in his possession, was not justified in the misapprehension claimed for him. He was clearly negligent in not apprising his superior officers of the service as made, and the association, being responsible for his negligence, cannot resort to a court of equity for relief."

In the case of *S. B. Reese Lumber Co. v. Licking Coal & Lumber Co.*, 161 SW 1124 @ 1126, summons was served on the statutory agent who failed to notify his principal. That court also refused to set aside the default judgment. The court stated in its opinion:

"Though Cook's denial that such advice was given to him by Nesbitt or that he made the reply attributed to him by the latter; and that of appellant's vice-president and manager, S. B. Reese, that notice of the service of the summons was ever given appellant by Cook, be accepted as the truth of the matter, it would merely show that Cook was negligent in failing to inform appellant of the service of the summons upon him, and, this being so, appellant cannot rely upon the negligence of its agent as ground for vacating the judgment rendered against it after being properly summoned in this action. In such a state of case the negligent of th agent is imputed to the principal, and is, therefore, the negligence of the latter. In other words, the absence of actual knowledge by appellant of the service of the summons upon its agent of the pendency of the action, though it may have prevented it from making defense to the ac-

tion, was not such an unavoidable casualty or misfortune in the meaning of sub-section 7, Sec. 518 Civil Code, as entitles it to a vacation of the judgment or a new trial. *Beasley et al v. Furr*, 154 Ky. 286, 157 S.W. 10."

In the case of *San Antonio Paper Co. v. Morgan*, 53 S.W. (2d) 651 @ 653, the appellate court again upheld the discretion of the trial court in refusing to set aside a default judgment. The following excerpt is taken from the appellate court's decision:

"The question of setting aside a default judgment is a matter within the discretion of the trial court, and, unless that discretion has been clearly abused, which is not the case here, an appellate court is not authorized to disturb the judgment. It is also settled law that, where one seeks to set aside a default judgment because of failure to answer and defend the suit, he must show that neither he nor his agents were negligent in that regard, and that, where defendant fails to show a reasonable excuse for not answering the suit in time, it is immaterial that he alleges a meritorious defense thereto. *Hooser v. Wolfe* (Tex. Civ. App.) 30 S.W. (2d) 728; *Homuth v. Williams* (Tex. Civ. App.) 42 S.W. (2d) 1048, and cases there cited. The failure of Newton to inform appellant, his employer, of the service of citation upon him until August 28, 1931, and in telling appellant that he was served on that date, was negligence, and showed no reasonable excuse for not answering the suit in time, except an excuse based upon the negligence of appellant's agent and with which negligence appellant alone is charged."

The case of *Wheat v. McNeil*, 295 P. 102, although it

does not go directly to the negligence of a process agent, does go to the question of whether or not mere mistake on the part of a person receiving the summons is sufficient grounds upon which to set aside a default judgment. In that case, the person receiving the summons failed to take any action because of the fact that he believed that it had to be served by a peace officer, when in fact it was served by a private individual. Default was taken and the Court refused to set it aside. In upholding this decision the appellate court stated:

“As to the mistake, advertence, etc., alleged in the complaint, and the fraud in relation thereto, the following excerpt from the complaint may be recited as a complete answer to any grounds for relief: The complaint uses the following language: ‘That the palintiff was at such time (referring to the service of summons), of the opinion and belief that such summons and complaint, in order to be legal, had to be served upon him by a sheriff or an officer of the law; that at such time the plaintiff was not of the opinion and belief that he had been actually and legally served with a copy of the summons and complaint in said action, or in said action at all; that because of the aforesaid facts the plaintiff, through mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect, failed to employ the services of an attorney, and refrained from making any legal defense to such action, and suffered a default to be taken therein and judgment rendered against him’. This, of course, constitutes no excuse whatever. By his own pleading the appellant in this case shows that the service of summons in the personal injury action, that is, the action where judgment was taken by default against the appellant, was had in entire accord with the provisions of sections 410 and 411 of the Code of Civil Procedure.”

A similar ruling was pronounced in the North Dakota case of *Foley v. Davis*, 211 N W 818, where the defendant failed to answer the summons because he believed it should have been signed by the Clerk of the Court instead of by an attorney. The default was granted. A motion was filed to set aside the default which was denied, and the appellate court upheld the denial.

Additional cases where summons was served on a process agent who failed to notify his principal and where the courts refused to set aside the default judgment taken are:

George O. Richards Co. v. Scott (an Okla. case),
251 Pac. 482.

Bradshaw v. Des Moines Ins. Co. (an Iowa case),
134 N W 628.

"18-8-5 Disability of Noncomplying Foreign Corporation.

(b) *The defendants have no meritorious defense.*

In order to have a default judgment set aside in addition to showing that the same was taken as a result of surprise, inadvertence or excusable neglect, it is necessary for the person moving to set aside the judgment also to show that he has a meritorious defense. In the court below, the defendants took the position that if the answer itself stated a defense, this requirement of the statute was met. While this may have been true under the old rules of pleading which required great particularity, it certainly cannot be true under our present Rules of Civil Procedure which allow the complaint and the

answer to state the position of the party in a very general way and then provide that it may be supplemented by depositions, written interrogatories and demands for admission. All of these supplement the pleadings. It is the position of the plaintiffs that whether there is a meritorious defense depends upon the state of the record at the time of the hearing. The plaintiffs in this case took the depositions of certain officers of the defendant companies to supplement and explain the allegations in the defendants' answer. These depositions were before the lower court at the time this motion was argued and therefore should have been, and undoubtedly were, considered by the court in connection with the argument. The record is at the present time in such a state that if the default judgment were set aside, the plaintiffs could go into court and move, and be entitled to, a summary judgment on the pleadings. Certainly when the record is in that condition, a meritorious defense is not shown.

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